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CHAPTER 1

The Bronze Horse

The astrologers and fortune-tellers were agreed: signs of the coming disasters were plain to see. In Puglia, down in the heel of Italy, three fiery suns rose into the sky. Farther north, in Tuscany, ghost riders on giant horses galloped through the air to the sound of drums and trumpets. In Florence, a Dominican friar named Girolamo Savonarola received visions of swords emerging from clouds and a black cross rising above Rome. All over Italy, statues sweated blood and women gave birth to monsters.

These strange and troubling events in the summer of 1494 foretold great changes. That year, as a chronicler later recounted, the Italian people suffered “innumerable horrible calamities.”1 Savonarola predicted the arrival of a fierce conqueror from across the Alps who would lay waste to Italy. His dire prophecy was fulfilled soon enough. That September, King Charles VIII of France entered an Alpine pass with an army of more than thirty thousand men, bent on marching through Italy and seizing the throne of Naples. The scourge of God made an unprepossessing sight: the twenty-four-year-old king was short, myopic, and so ill proportioned that in the words of the chronicler Francesco Guicciardini, “he seemed more like a monster than a man.”2 His ungainly appearance and agreeable nickname, Charles the Affable, belied the fact that he was equipped with the most formidable array of weapons ever seen in Europe.

Charles VIII’s first stop was the Lombard town of Asti, where, after pawning jewels to pay his troops, he was greeted by his powerful Italian ally, Lodovico Sforza, the ruler of Milan. Savonarola may have prophesied Charles’s expedition, but it was Lodovico who had summoned him across the Alps. The forty-two-year-old Lodovico, known because of his dark complexion as Il Moro (the Moor), was as handsome, vigorous, and cunning as the French king was feeble and ugly. He had turned Milan—the duchy over which he had become the de facto ruler in 1481 after usurping his young nephew Giangaleazzo—into what the Holy Roman emperor, Maximilian, called “the most flourishing realm in Italy.”3 But Lodovico’s head lay uneasy. The father-in-law of the feckless Giangaleazzo was Alfonso II, the new king of Naples, whose daughter Isabella deplored the usurpation and did not scruple to tell her father of her sufferings. Alfonso had an unsavory reputation. “Never was any prince more bloody, wicked, inhuman, lascivious, or gluttonous than he,” declared a French ambassador.4 Lodovico was told to beware assassins: Neapolitans of bad repute, an adviser warned, had been dispatched to Milan “on some evil errand.”5

Yet if Alfonso could be removed from Naples—if Charles VIII could be convinced to press his tenuous claim to its throne (his great-grandfather had been king of Naples a century earlier)—then Lodovico could rest easy in Milan. According to an observer at the French court, he had therefore begun “to tickle King Charles ... with the vanities and glories of Italy.”6

The Duchy of Milan ran seventy miles from north to south—from the foothills of the Alps to the Po—and sixty miles from west to east. At its heart, encircled by a deep moat, crisscrossed by canals, and protected by a circuit of stone walls, lay the city of Milan itself. Lodovico’s wealth and determination had turned the city, with a population of one hundred thousand people, into Italy’s greatest. A huge fortress with cylindrical towers loomed on its northeast edge, while at the center of the city rose the walls of a new cathedral, started in 1386 but still, after a century, barely half-finished. Palaces lined the paved streets, their facades decorated with frescoes. A poet exulted that in Milan the golden age had returned, and that Lodovico’s city was full of talented artists who flocked to his court “like bees to honey.”7
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Lodovico Sforza

The poet was not merely flattering to deceive. Lodovico had been an enthusiastic patron of the arts ever since, at the age of thirteen, he commissioned a portrait of his favorite horse.8 Under his rule, intellectual and artistic luminaries flocked to Milan: poets, painters, musicians, and architects, as well as scholars of Greek, Latin, and Hebrew. The universities in Milan and neighboring Pavia were revived. Law and medicine flourished. New buildings were commissioned; elegant cupolas bloomed on the skyline. With his own hands Lodovico laid the first stone of the beautiful church of Santa Maria dei Miracoli presso San Celso.

And yet the verdict of the chroniclers would be harsh. Italy had enjoyed forty years of relative peace. The odd skirmish still broke out, such as when Pope Sixtus IV went to war against Florence in 1478. Yet for the most part Italy’s princes vied to surpass one another not on the field of battle but in the taste and splendor of their accomplishments. Now, however, the blood-dimmed tide was loosed. By enticing Charles VIII and his thunderous weapons across the Alps, Lodovico Sforza had unwittingly unleashed—as all the stars foretold—innumerable horrible calamities.
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Among the brilliant courtiers in Lodovico Sforza’s Milan was an artist celebrated above all others. “Rejoice, Milan,” wrote a poet in 1493, “that inside your walls are men with excellent honours, such as Vinci, whose skills in both drawing and painting are unrivalled by masters both ancient and modern.”9

This virtuoso was Leonardo da Vinci who, at forty-two, was exactly the same age as Lodovico. A Tuscan who came north to Milan a dozen years earlier to seek his reputation, he must have cut a conspicuous and alluring figure at Il Moro’s court. By the accounts of his earliest biographers, he was strikingly handsome and elegant. “Outstanding physical beauty,” enthused one writer. “Beautiful in person and aspect,” observed another. “Long hair, long eyelashes, a very long beard, and a true nobility,” declared a third.10 He possessed brawn and vigor too. He was said to be able to straighten a horseshoe with his bare hands, and during his absences from court he climbed the barren peaks north of Lake Como, crawling on all fours past huge rocks and contending with “terrible bears.”11

This epitome of masculine pulchritude bore the grand title pictor et ingeniarius ducalis: the duke’s painter and engineer.12 He had come to Milan, aged thirty, in hopes of inventing and constructing fearsome war machines such as chariots, cannons, and catapults that would, he promised Il Moro, give “great terror to the enemy.” His hopes were no doubt boosted by the fact that Milan was at war with Venice, with Lodovico spending almost 75 percent of his vast annual revenues on warfare. Although visions of battle danced in his head, he actually found himself at work on more modest and peaceable tasks, such as designing costumes for weddings and pageants, fashioning elaborate stage sets for plays, and painting a portrait of Il Moro’s mistress. He amused courtiers by performing tricks such as turning white wine into red, and by inventing an alarm clock that woke up the sleeper by jerking his feet into the air. Occasionally the tasks were mundane: “To heat the water for the stove of the Duchess,” one of his notes recorded, “take four parts of cold water to three parts of hot water.”13

Despite his diverse assignments, over much of the previous decade Leonardo had devoted himself to one commission in particular, a work of art that should truly have sealed his reputation as an artist unrivaled by ancients and moderns alike. In about 1482, shortly before moving to Milan, he composed a letter of introduction to Lodovico, a kind of curriculum vitae that somewhat exaggerated his abilities. In the letter, he promised to apprise Il Moro of his secrets, casually assuring him that “the bronze horse may be taken in hand, which is to be to the immortal glory and eternal honour of the prince your father of happy memory, and of the illustrious house of Sforza.”14

This bronze horse was the larger-than-life equestrian monument by which Lodovico hoped to celebrate the exploits of his late father, Francesco Sforza. A wily soldier of fortune (Niccolò Machiavelli praised his “great prowess” and “honourable wickedness”), Francesco became duke of Milan in 1450 after overthrowing a short-lived republican government.15 He was the son of a man named Muzio Attendolo who, as a youngster, had been chopping wood when a troop of soldiers rode by and, eyeing his brawny frame, invited him to join them. Muzio threw his axe at a tree trunk, vowing to himself: “If it sticks, I will go.” The axe stuck, and Muzio became a mercenary hired at various times by all of the major Italian princes. His strapping physique and fierce nature brought him the nickname “Sforza” (sforzare means to force), which, like the axe, stuck.

Francesco Sforza had been an equally brilliant soldier. He rose from soldier to duke nine years after marrying the illegitimate daughter of one of his clients, the duke of Milan, Filippo Maria Visconti. The Visconti family had ruled Milan since 1277, and as dukes since 1395. However, in 1447, after Filippo Maria died without a male heir, the citizens of Milan did away with the dukedom and proclaimed a republic. Two years later, staking his claim to rule the city, Francesco blockaded and besieged Milan, whose starving citizens eventually gave up on their republic and, in March 1450, welcomed their former mercenary as duke of Milan. Francesco did not suffer the succession problems of Filippo Maria, fathering as many as thirty children, eleven of them illegitimate. No fewer than eight sons were born on the right side of the blanket, with the eldest, Galeazzo Maria—Il Moro’s older brother—becoming duke upon Francesco’s death in 1466.

The Visconti family had a gaudy history of heresy, insanity, and murder. One of the more intriguing members, a nun named Maifreda, was burned at the stake in the year 1300 for claiming she was going to be the next pope. Giovanni Maria Visconti, Filippo Maria’s older brother, trained his hounds to hunt people and eat their flesh. Filippo Maria, fat and insane, cut off his wife’s head. Even in such company, the cruel and lecherous Galeazzo Maria stood out. Machiavelli later blanched at his monstrous behavior, noting how he was not content to dispatch his enemies “unless he killed them in some cruel mode,” while chroniclers could not bring themselves to describe various of his deeds.16 He was suspected of murdering not only his fiancée but also his mother. In 1476 he was felled by knife-wielding assassins, leaving behind an eight-year-old son and heir, Giangaleazzo—the child duke elbowed out of the way, five years later, by Lodovico il Moro, who solved the problem of authority in Milan by decapitating the boy’s regent.

Lodovico’s claim to sovereignty was tenuous. Technically speaking, he was only the guardian and representative of his nephew, who had inherited the title of duke of Milan from his father. This dubious prerogative meant Lodovico was anxious to keep alive in everyone’s mind the memory of his own father. He had therefore commissioned from a scholar named Giovanni Simonetta a history of Francesco’s illustrious career. He was further planning to have heroic scenes from his father’s life frescoed in the ballroom of Milan’s castle. An equestrian monument of Francesco had been mooted as early as 1473, when Galeazzo Maria planned to have one installed before Milan’s castle. The project ended with his assassination but was revived by Lodovico, who envisaged the bronze monument as the most conspicuous and spectacular of the tributes to his father.

Mercenary captains were often flattered after their deaths in paint, print, and bronze. The sculptor Donatello cast a bronze equestrian monument of the Venetian commander Erasmo da Narni, better known as Gattamelata (Honey Cat), to stand in the Piazza del Santo in Padua. In 1480 another Florentine sculptor, Andrea del Verrocchio—Leonardo’s former teacher—began working for the Venetians on a statue of Bartolomeo Colleoni on horseback. Lodovico envisaged something even more grandiose for his father. As an ambassador reported, “His Excellency desires something of superlative size, the like of which has never been seen.”17
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Leonardo da Vinci once wrote that his first memory was of a bird, and that studying and writing about birds therefore “seems to be my destiny.”18 Yet horses were truly the rudder of Leonardo’s fortune, and a horse was, in a manner of speaking, what had brought him to Milan in the first place. According to one source, in about 1482 Lorenzo de’ Medici, the ruler of Florence, had dispatched him to Milan with a special diplomatic gift for Lodovico Sforza: a silver lyre that Leonardo had invented, and on which he could play, an early biographer claimed, “with rare execution.”19 This unique musical instrument was in the shape of a horse’s head. A hasty sketch in one of Leonardo’s manuscripts shows what the instrument may have looked like, with the horse’s teeth serving as pegs for the strings and ridges in the roof of the mouth doubling as frets.

Given Lorenzo de’ Medici’s habit of conducting diplomatic relations through his artists, the story of the lyre has a ring of truth.20 But lyre or no lyre, Leonardo almost certainly would have made his way north to Milan in order to build weapons or design the equestrian monument, opportunities he must have decided did not readily present themselves in Florence.

Leonardo received the commission for the bronze statue within a few years of his arrival in Milan. Lodovico revived the project in earnest in 1484, though Leonardo was not his first choice as sculptor. Despite Leonardo’s presence in Milan, in the spring of 1484 Lodovico wrote to Lorenzo de’ Medici asking if he knew of any sculptors capable of casting the monument. But Florence’s two greatest sculptors, Verrocchio and Antonio del Pollaiuolo, were both busy on other projects. “Here I do not find any artist who satisfies me,” Lorenzo regretfully replied. He did not endorse Leonardo, merely adding, “I am sure that His Excellency will not lack someone.”21

For want of another candidate, then, Leonardo was given the commission, possibly quite soon after Lorenzo’s response. He attacked the project with relish, albeit evidently inspired much more by the figure of the horse than by that of its rider. He made a close study of equine anatomy, and even composed and illustrated a (now-lost) treatise on the subject. He spent hours in the ducal stables, scrutinizing and drawing Sicilian and Spanish stallions owned by Lodovico and his favorite courtiers. One of his memoranda reads, “The Florentine Morello of Mr. Mariolo, large horse, has a nice neck and a very beautiful head. The white stallion belonging to the falconer has fine hind quarters; it is behind the Porta Comasina.”22

Leonardo’s statue would not simply be anatomically correct; it would also strike an energetically rampant pose. Donatello’s statue of Gattamelata portrayed the mercenary leader sitting upright on a placidly pacing horse, while Verrocchio’s—on which Leonardo probably worked for a year or two before leaving Florence—placed Colleoni astride a muscular beast whose left foreleg was held prancingly aloft. Leonardo planned something more astonishing, a horse rearing on its hind legs with its front hooves pawing the air above a prostrate foe. Furthermore, his statue would be enormous. Donatello’s monument was twelve feet high, Verrocchio’s thirteen—but Leonardo envisaged a statue whose horse alone would be more than twenty-three feet in height, three times larger than life. It would testify to the glory of Francesco Sforza but, even more, to the tremendous and unrivaled abilities of the artist himself. Designing and casting a bronze statue of such magnitude was unprecedented. One of his contemporaries wrote that the feat was “universally judged impossible.”23 Leonardo, however, was never one to be daunted by colossal tasks. He once reminded himself in a note: “We ought not to desire the impossible.” Elsewhere he wrote, “I wish to work miracles.”24
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Leonardo’s study for the equestrian monument commissioned by Lodovico

The gigantic horse did appear to be, if not impossible, then at the very least complex and extremely challenging: something that would indeed take a miracle to perform. The project taxed even Leonardo’s ingenuity. Records do not show how far he advanced in these early years, but work certainly proceeded neither swiftly nor auspiciously. By 1489, Lodovico Sforza had begun to doubt the wisdom of giving him the commission. As the Florentine ambassador to Milan wrote home to Lorenzo de’ Medici, “It appears to me that, while he has given the commission to Leonardo, he is not confident of his success.”25

Leonardo had responded to Il Moro’s doubts with a spirited publicity campaign. In 1489 he asked a friend, the Milanese poet Piatto Piattini, for a poem celebrating the equestrian statue.26 He clearly wanted to build enthusiasm for the project—and for his own ability to execute it—at a time when Il Moro was losing faith not only in his sculptor but also perhaps in the monument itself. Piattini duly complied with Leonardo’s request, composing a short poem that praised Francesco Sforza and extolled the equestrian monument as “supernatural.” He also produced a second poem exalting Leonardo as “a most noble sculptor” and comparing him to ancient Greek sculptors such as Lysippos and Polykleitos.27

Piattini noted in a letter that though “keenly sought out” by Leonardo to produce a poem, he did not doubt that the artist had made the same request “to many others.” This may well have been the case: Leonardo was certainly mounting a vigorous offensive to keep his job. Around the same time another poet, Francesco Arrigoni, wrote a letter to Lodovico observing that he had been asked “to celebrate with some epigrams the equestrian statue.” His effort was much longer than Piattini’s, a series of Latin epigrams rhapsodizing both the bronze horse and its ambitious author, who was once again compared to the finest sculptors of ancient Greece.28

Whether Il Moro was swayed by this suave publicity is impossible to know, but Leonardo was not, in fact, removed from the job. In April 1490 he wrote that he had “recommenced the horse,” by which he meant he had started work on a different design, opting for a less audaciously difficult pose: the rearing attitude was abandoned in favor of a more balanced pose.29 Around this time he began sculpting a full-scale version in clay.

Various distractions and interruptions followed. In January 1491, in order to forge an alliance with a powerful Italian family, Lodovico reluctantly shed his beautiful, pregnant mistress Cecilia Gallerani (whose portrait Leonardo had recently painted) and married Beatrice d’Este, daughter of the duke of Ferrara. Leonardo was heavily involved in the nuptials, designing costumes for the festivities, decorating the ballroom, and helping to arrange a jousting match. The following year he found himself creating a waterfall for the new duchess’s villa outside Milan. He also pursued private interests that struck colleagues at the court in Milan as eccentric. A poet named Guidotto Prestinari attacked him in a sonnet for spending his days hunting in the woods and hills around Bergamo for “various monsters and a thousand strange worms.”30

By the end of 1493, the full-size clay model of the horse (albeit, apparently, without its rider) was near enough to completion that it was celebrated by other poets more receptive to Leonardo’s genius—and ones whose verses were perhaps urgently solicited by Leonardo himself. One of them praised Leonardo’s “rare genius” and exalted the “great colossus” as something the size of which even the Greeks and Romans had never witnessed. A second envisaged Francesco Sforza gazing down from the heavens and heaping compliments on Leonardo.31

The model was undoubtedly a marvel, but the problem of how to cast such a monstrosity needed to be faced. Leonardo would have learned a time-honored method of casting bronze more than two decades earlier in the Florentine studio of Verrocchio. A core made from clay and fashioned roughly into the shape of the statue would be coated with a layer of wax, which was then sculpted with the finer details. The wax-covered model was enclosed in a rough outer shell (made from ingredients such as cow dung) into which casting rods were inserted. This chrysalis was fired in a casting pit, at which point the melting wax drained through the rods, to be replaced by molten bronze introduced through another set of tubes. The bronze then cooled and solidified, after which the charred husk was broken open to reveal the statue. The bronze would then be “chased”: smoothed and polished with chisels, files, and pumice.

Leonardo jotted numerous notes to himself when the time came to think about the casting process. He was highly secretive in his approach, reverting to code, albeit a fairly primitive one that saw him simply reversing the order of the letters in certain words: cavallo (horse) became ollavac.32 He seemed prepared to experiment with various recipes: making casts from river sand mixed with vinegar, wetting the molds with linseed oil or turpentine, and making a paste from egg white, brick dust, and household rubbish.33 He might even have considered using a rather unorthodox ingredient since one of his diagrams for the horse included offhand observations about the happy chemical effects of burning human excrement, which is not perhaps so eccentric if we consider that cow and horse dung were often used by sculptors.34 One ingredient, though, was certain: seventy-five tons of bronze had been earmarked for the monument.
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By the end of 1493, Leonardo had spent as many as eight or ten years on the giant equestrian monument. He was putting the finishing touches to his clay model and deliberating the practicalities of casting in bronze when, in January 1494, far to the south in Naples, seventy-year-old King Ferdinand I, returning from his country villa, climbed down from his horse and keeled over dead. His death brought to the throne his son Alfonso, the cruel and avaricious father of Isabella, wife of the hapless Giangaleazzo, rightful ruler of Milan. The time had come for Lodovico Sforza to act.

In early October 1494, with French troops poised for their descent into Italy, Lodovico entertained the unlikely savior of his domains, Charles VIII, with a boar hunt and a banquet at his country home in Vigevano. Relations between Lodovico and Charles were cordial, in part because Lodovico took the precaution of amply providing the French king with Milanese courtesans. However, Charles was disappointed by the Italian wines and found the weather disagreeably hot.35 Lodovico meanwhile quickly came to regard his royal guest as foolish, haughty, and ill-mannered. “These French are bad people,” he confided to the Venetian ambassador, “and we must not allow them to become our neighbours.”36 The dislike of the French soon spread across his dukedom. A French statesman accompanying King Charles ruefully observed, “At our first entrance into Italy, everybody thought us people of the greatest goodness and sincerity in the world; but that opinion lasted not long.”37

The character and intentions of the French became evident only a few weeks later, at Mordano, twenty-five miles southeast of Bologna. For the previous century, military campaigns in Italy had been relatively bloodless affairs, cautious and tactical, full of pomp and display rather than violent or heroic altercations, not unlike giant chess matches in which one mercenary, outmaneuvered by his opponent, would concede the advantage and peaceably withdraw from the field. Thus at Zagonara, where the Florentines suffered a famous defeat in 1424, the only casualties were three soldiers who fell from their horses and drowned in the mud. In 1427, eight thousand Milanese troops were bested by the Venetians in battle at Macalo; not a single life was lost. As one Florentine observer sarcastically remarked, “The rule for our Italian soldiers seems to be this: You pillage there, and we will pillage here; there is no need for us to approach too close to one another.”38

The French commanders who invaded Italy in 1494 took a different approach to warfare. They were equipped with siege weapons that had been shipped by boat to La Spezia on the Italian coast. These cannons were cast in bronze, unlike Italian artillery, which consisted of copper tubes covered with wood and animal hides. The French guns fired wrought iron cannonballs the size of a man’s head, unlike Italian artillery, which made use of small stone balls carved by masons (even Leonardo’s designs for cannons were designed to “fling small stones”).39 The French gunners were trained in special artillery schools, and their guns could be sighted with deadly accuracy. While the Italians used plodding oxen to drag their guns, teams of swift horses pulled the French gun carriages. Maneuvered quickly into position and fired with great rapidity, their artillery could wreak havoc on either city walls or ranks of soldiers on the field of battle. The fearsome weapons of Leonardo’s imagination had suddenly appeared in Italy.

One of the keys to capturing the south of Italy was gaining control of a series of strategic fortresses that blocked access to the Apennines in Tuscany and central Italy. Mordano was one such fortress. It was owned by Caterina Sforza, Countess of Forlì, the illegitimate daughter of Lodovico’s brother Galeazzo Maria and (despite her Sforza blood) an ally of Naples rather than Lodovico and the French. When the troops of Charles VIII appeared outside the walls in October 1494, the soldiers and civilians inside Mordano were counting on the strength of their fortifications and the usual diffidence of the enemy to engage. But when their demand to surrender was refused, the French troops quickly breached the walls with their artillery.
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King Charles VIII of France

Sieges in Italy occasionally turned brutal if soldiers found women and defenseless civilians, rather than enemy soldiers, on the business end of their halberds. The violence had been appalling in 1472 when the warlord Federigo da Montefeltro captured Volterra on behalf of the Florentines. “For a whole day it was robbed and overrun,” Machiavelli later recorded. “Neither women nor holy places were spared.”40 The French assault on Mordano—in which all the inhabitants of the castle, soldiers and civilians alike, were put to the sword—was even more shocking. News of the massacre, known as the “terror of Mordano,” spread quickly through Italy. Soon the French troops even began attacking and pillaging in the territories of their ostensible allies. The French invaders, wrote a Florentine chronicler, were “bestial men.”41
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Before departing the Duchy of Milan to lead his expedition, Charles had briefly paid his respects to Giangaleazzo Sforza, the rightful duke, at the castle in Pavia where he enjoyed an aimless liberty. The two men, who were first cousins, had much in common, including reputations for licentiousness. Some observers faulted Lodovico for the intellectual and moral shortcomings of his nephew. According to a Venetian chronicler, Lodovico had made every effort “to see that the boy would never come to anything,” deliberately neglecting to educate him in the art of war or in the skills required by a ruler. He even went so far as to employ people “to corrupt and deprave his childish nature” so the young duke would become habituated to “every sort of indulgence and idleness.”42 Whatever the truth of the accusation, Giangaleazzo required little encouragement. His enthusiastic indulgences took a toll on his health, and he was gravely ill by the time of the French king’s visit. One day after the massacre at Mordano, he died at the age of twenty-five. One rumor had it that he expired from “immoderate coitus”; more persistent gossip claimed he was poisoned by Lodovico.43

Giangaleazzo’s death came at an undeniably opportune moment for Lodovico. Two days later, ignoring the hereditary claim of Giangaleazzo’s five-year-old son, Francesco, and stressing present dangers and the need for a decisive ruler in such troublous times, he assumed for himself the title and seal of duke of Milan. However, just as one of Lodovico’s rivals for the dukedom expired, another appeared on the scene. Il Moro’s growing misgivings about his French allies were exacerbated by the presence of Charles’s thirty-two-year-old cousin and brother-in-law, Louis, the duke of Orléans. As a great-grandson, like Lodovico, of the very first duke of Milan, a crazed and cruel tyrant who died in 1402, Louis was anxious to assert his own right to rule the duchy. To some observers, the handsome and dissolute Louis seemed no match for the crafty Lodovico. “He has a small head with not much room for brains,” wrote the Florentine ambassador to Milan, who predicted, “Lodovico will soon get the better of him.”44 But Lodovico would need to be wary of his French namesake, an enemy who—though supposedly an ally—was potentially more dangerous than the king of Naples.

Alfonso, meanwhile, had dispatched an army northward to meet the king of France. It was commanded by a Milanese aristocrat, Gian Giacomo Trivulzio, a personal enemy whom Lodovico had exiled from the duchy. As Trivulzio’s troops neared Ferrara, 125 miles from Milan, Lodovico, realizing that the time had come to beat ploughshares into swords, expropriated Leonardo’s seventy-five tons of bronze. He arranged to have the metal sent to his father-in-law, the duke of Ferrara, under whose supervision a Maestro Zanin would turn it into three cannons, including “one in the French style.”45 Ferrara was one of the few cities in Italy with the capability to forge such weapons. The Castel Vecchio in Ferrara had—besides dungeons, a torture chamber, and a special room for decapitating prisoners—a foundry for casting artillery.46 To this grim fortress Leonardo’s bronze was sent.
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There was, for Leonardo, a sad irony to the situation. He had come to Milan with dreams of constructing instruments of war. His notebooks from his first years in Milan teem with inventive designs for wiping out the enemy. Promising that his war machines would be “out of the common type,” he prepared detailed plans for a cannon on a precision-controlled swiveling mount, a multibarreled machine gun, an armored tank mounted with cannons, and a spike-wheeled chariot armed with head-high rotating blades. Lodovico took little interest in these weapons of mass destruction. The relatively sedate nature of Italian warfare, coupled with the fact that the major Italian powers had avoided large-scale conflagrations for several decades, gave him little incentive to encourage Leonardo. When Lodovico suddenly saw the need for heavy artillery, the commission went to the foundries of Ferrara, and Leonardo—such was the grudging of fate—lost his seventy-five tons of bronze.

Bilked of his chance to cast the monument, Leonardo composed a desperate, angry letter to Lodovico. Perhaps it was never sent, since the surviving page was ripped down the middle, possibly by Leonardo himself after some sober second thought. Or perhaps this is the ripped-up draft of a letter that Leonardo did send to Il Moro. In any case, only a series of fragmentary complaints convey Leonardo’s angry and incoherent splutter of indignation. “And if any other commission is given me by any—” it begins before breaking off. The fractured litany continues:

—of the reward of my service. Because I am not to be—
—things assigned because meanwhile they have—
—which they well may settle rather than I—
—not my art which I wish to change and—

A little farther down the page, Leonardo stated that his life had been spent in the service of Lodovico, that he held himself ever in readiness to obey, and that he understood his lordship’s mind to be occupied with other things. “Of the horse I will say nothing because I know the times,” he wrote, momentarily striking a conciliatory tone before proceeding to tick off his grievances about his treatment over this particular commission: his unpaid salary going back two years, the skilled workmen whom he had been forced to pay out of his own pocket, the “works of fame” he had hoped to create, and how he had been toiling at his art to “gain my living.” The letter ends: “I conveyed to your Lordship only requesting you—”

Precisely what request Leonardo conveyed to Lodovico is unknown. One of the fragmentary lines “remember the commission to paint the rooms” alludes to an assignment to decorate rooms in either Lodovico’s castle in Milan or his country retreat at Vigevano. For the latter, Leonardo seems to have been planning scenes from Roman history that incorporated portraits of ancient philosophers.47

But Lodovico, however preoccupied with other matters, had something else in mind for his court painter. If the French invasion robbed Leonardo of the chance to cast the bronze horse, it would present him with an opportunity to create quite a different work of fame.


CHAPTER 2

Portrait of the Artist as a Middle-Aged Man

The bronze horse was not the first commission that Leonardo, for various reasons, had been unable to complete. He was someone who promised much, who dreamed of impossible miracles. Yet thus far he had yielded a body of work that, however impressive, was still unhappily disproportionate to his talents. Despite his reputation in Milan, he had reached his forties without truly having achieved a masterpiece that would fulfil everything his astonishing talents portended. His career, in both Florence and Milan, had seen several major commissions abandoned unfinished, with the patrons dissatisfied and, in one case, litigious. Few completed works could be attached to Leonardo’s name, beyond an Annunciation altarpiece in a convent outside Florence, several Madonna and Child paintings done for private patrons, and a number of portraits, likewise done for private patrons, including the one of Lodovico Sforza’s mistress Cecilia Gallerani. He had also, apparently, done a painting—“the most beautiful and unusual work to be found in painting,” according to an early biographer—that Lodovico sent as a wedding present to Maximilian, the Holy Roman emperor.1

All of these works, the portraits in particular, were stylistically progressive and beautifully executed. A court poet wrote a poem praising the “genius and skill” with which Leonardo had captured Cecilia’s likeness “for all time.” Cecilia herself, evidently pleased with the portrait, called Leonardo “the master who in truth I believe has no equal.”2 Leonardo had also painted a saintly figure so astonishingly and gorgeously lifelike that its owner “fell in love with it” (as Leonardo later claimed) and begged him to remove the religious trappings so he could “kiss it without misgivings.”3

Yet these works were tucked away in private homes, unseen by anyone but princes and courtiers, and the painting given to Maximilian was presumably in faraway Innsbruck. Leonardo had so far created nothing to garner for himself the tremendous public fame won by legendary and beloved artists of the past: something that could take pride of place in a cathedral or public piazza, and that the people could see with their own eyes, like Donatello’s statue of Gattamelata in Padua, Giotto’s frescoes in Assisi, or Filippo Brunelleschi’s dome in Florence. His bronze horse would undoubtedly have caused wonder and excitement, but the opportunity had been lost.

By the age of forty-two—and in an era when life expectancy was only forty—Leonardo had produced only a few scattered paintings, a bizarre-looking music instrument, some ephemeral decorations for masques and festivals, and many hundreds of pages of notes and drawings for studies he had not yet published, or for inventions he had not yet built.4 There was clearly a stark gulf between his ambitions and his accomplishments. Everyone who met him, or who saw his works, was dazzled by his obvious and undeniable brilliance. But too often his ambitions had been curtailed or frustrated. He hoped to find work as an architect, but in 1490 his aspirations were thwarted when his wooden model for a domed tower for Milan’s half-built cathedral was rejected. He tried to get the job of designing and casting the bronze doors for Piacenza’s cathedral, even going so far as to write the cathedral officials an anonymous letter extolling his talents: “There is no capable man—and you may believe me—except Leonardo the Florentine.”5 But no call came from Piacenza. He drew up detailed plans to redevelop Milan, dividing the city into ten districts of five thousand buildings each and including such amenities as pedestrian zones, irrigated gardens, and well-ventilated latrines. Not a single part of this plan was ever adopted or constructed. Meanwhile, Lodovico had harbored doubts about Leonardo’s abilities to complete the bronze equestrian monument, even sending to Florence at one point looking for possible replacements.

At times Leonardo was troubled by his lack of achievement. As a young man he appears to have developed a reputation for melancholia. “Leonardo,” wrote a friend, “why so troubled?” A sad refrain runs through his notebooks: “Tell me if anything was ever done,” he often sighs. Or in another place: “Tell me if ever I did a thing.”6
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Leonardo was born in 1452, in a square-built stone farmhouse near Vinci, an “insignificant hamlet” (as one of his earliest biographers called it) sixteen miles west of Florence.7 His eighty-year-old grandfather proudly recorded the arrival in a leather-bound family album: “A grandson was born to me, the son of Ser Piero my son, on the 15th day of April, a Saturday, in the third hour of the night. He bears the name Lionardo.”8 He would bear, in fact, the name Leonardo di Ser Piero da Vinci, which was how, twenty years later, he registered himself in the Compagnia di San Luca, the painters’ confraternity in Florence. At the Sforza court he would sometimes be known as “Leonardo Fiorentino” or—grandly Latinized—as “Leonardus de Florentia.” That, at least, was how Lodovico referred to him in documents.9 The ducal artist and engineer was therefore identified not with an obscure Tuscan village but with the glories of Florence.

Leonardo’s twenty-six-year-old father, Ser Piero, was (as his honorary title implied) a notary: someone who wrote wills, contracts, and other commercial and legal correspondence. The family had produced notaries for at least five generations, but with Leonardo the chain was to snap. He was, as his grandfather’s tax return stated a few years later, “non legittimo”—born out of wedlock—and as such he (along with criminals and priests) was barred from membership in the Guild of Judges and Notaries. Leonardo’s mother was a sixteen-year-old girl named Caterina, and an apparent difference in their social status meant she and Piero, a bright and ambitious young man, did not marry.

Almost nothing is known about Caterina. She may have been the family’s domestic servant. A case has recently been made for her having been, like many domestic servants in Tuscany, a slave from another country. A century earlier, Florence’s city fathers had issued a decree permitting the importation of slaves, provided they were infidels rather than Christians, though they were promptly baptized and given Christian names (and Caterina was a popular choice) on arrival in Florence. Well-to-do Florentines could purchase slaves—usually young women who were to be used as domestics—from lands along the Black Sea (Turks, Tatars, Circassians) as well as from North Africa. Although they cost from thirty to fifty florins, half the yearly wages of a skilled artisan, they became so plentiful in the fifteenth century that a popular song described the sight of “charming little slave girls” hanging out of windows “shaking out clothes in the morning / fresh and joyous as hawthorn buds.”10

Intriguingly, a wealthy friend of Ser Piero, a Florentine banker named Vanni di Niccolò, owned a slave named Caterina, and following Vanni’s death in 1451, Ser Piero inherited his house in Florence and served as executor of his estate. His friendship with Vanni and position as executor would have given him—so the theory goes—sexual access to Caterina. This hypothesis potentially sheds new light on another theory, that of a professor of anthropology whose team found that fingerprints identified as Leonardo’s reveal the same dermatoglyphic structure—that is, the same pattern of loops and whorls—as people of Middle Eastern origin. The announcement generated headlines that Leonardo was an Arab, though skeptics claim it is difficult both to determine someone’s ethnicity from his fingerprints and to be certain that the fingerprints taken from Leonardo’s notebooks are, in fact, those of Leonardo.11

Given the dearth of information about Caterina, the theories that Leonardo’s mother was a slave, or that Leonardo had a Middle Eastern heritage, must remain speculative. What is known is that Leonardo was raised in the house of his father and grandfather, and Caterina largely disappeared from his life. Children of slaves were always born free, and the church allowed them to be adopted and legitimized by their fathers. The mothers themselves were often given a small dowry and married off to someone else. In Caterina’s case, a short while after Leonardo’s birth she married a local kiln worker nicknamed Accattabriga. This sobriquet, meaning Troublemaker, suggests that he was not a particularly good catch. She went on to have five children after Leonardo—four daughters and a son—and lived in humble circumstances in Campo Zeppi, near Vinci. Little is known of the Accattabriga clan except that sometime in the 1480s the son, Leonardo’s half brother, perhaps a troublemaker like his father, was killed by a crossbow in Pisa.12

Soon after Leonardo’s birth, Piero married another sixteen-year-old, a girl named Albiera. Higher up the social scale than Caterina, she came from a well-to-do family of Florentine notaries, presumably making her a more attractive catch for the aspiring young Ser Piero. Albiera died when Leonardo was twelve, without giving Ser Piero any children. His second wife, Francesca, died in 1473, likewise childless. Leonardo would remain an only child until Ser Piero’s third wife gave birth to a son in 1476, by which time Leonardo was twenty-four and no longer living at home. Ser Piero would ultimately go on to have upward of a dozen children, with a recent study claiming he produced at least twenty-one offspring.13

Leonardo appears to have been a much-loved child. As an eldest son he was welcomed happily into the home of his father and grandfather. No fewer than ten godparents attended his baptism, an indication that the family felt no shame about the new arrival. Although barred from the legal profession and university because of his illegitimacy, he seems to have suffered few if any other strictures or consequences. In fifteenth-century Italy, little social stigma attached to illegitimacy. The writers Petrarch and Boccaccio, the architect Leon Battista Alberti, the painters Filippo Lippi and his son Filippino, and even a future pope, Clement VII, all were born out of wedlock. Noble families set the fashion of accepting their illegitimate children. When Pope Pius II passed through Ferrara in 1459, his welcoming party consisted of eight bastards from the ruling family, including the reigning duke, Borso d’Este. Pius no doubt took a broad-minded view of the Este clan because before taking holy orders he himself had fathered several illegitimate children. “What is sweeter to a human being,” he wrote to dispel his father’s dismay that the children were born in sin, “both to extend his bloodline and for you to have someone to leave behind?... Truly, it is an enormous pleasure for me that my seed was fruitful.”14

Ser Piero appears to have been equally delighted at the arrival of his son, though for unknown reasons he never legitimized him. Certainly Leonardo’s illegitimacy gave him one distinct advantage: it allowed him to escape the legal profession in favor of more creative and wide-ranging pursuits in the same way that Petrarch and Boccaccio, subject to only the faintest moral stain, and liberated from the demands of church and guild, had been able to experiment with new forms of expression.

Leonardo’s schooling was probably fairly unremarkable, hardly designed to turn him into the polymath he eventually became. Between the ages of six and eleven he would have studied at an elementary school, what the Florentines called the botteghuzza because its primary concern was to prepare students for the bottega (workshop). The teacher would have been either a priest or a notary, and the students learned to read and write, mostly in the idiomatic Italian of Tuscany. Leonardo would also have received some Latin instruction through a grammar known as the Donadello. Later in life he owned no fewer than six of these Latin grammars, one of them perhaps his original schoolbook. This ardent stockpiling of elementary Latin grammars indicates how Leonardo, though he had some ability, was by no means fluent or even particularly competent in Latin. His most serious attempt to master the language would come when he was in his late thirties in Milan, when he transcribed parts of Niccolò Perotti’s widely used textbook Rudimenta grammatices. That one of history’s greatest brains struggled with amo, amas, amat should be consolation to anyone who has ever tried to learn a second language.

At the age of eleven, students went to either a grammar school, where they studied Latin literature to prepare for a learned vocation, or an abacus school, where the weight of the teaching was on numeracy rather than literacy. Leonardo almost certainly went to the latter. Pupils at abacus schools were introduced to some literature, such as Aesop and Dante, but mathematics was emphasized in order to prepare them for careers in commerce. A good example of what students had to learn is found in the painter Piero della Francesca’s Trattato d’abaco, which Piero claimed was a treatise on “the arithmetic necessary to merchants.” Among the many exercises is one that reveals the sort of brain-twisting commercial transaction common in Italy in the fifteenth century: “Two individuals are bartering, one with wax and the other with wool. The wax is worth 9 ducats and a quarter, the barter rate is 10 and two-thirds; the other one has wool and I do not know what the thousand is worth, its exchange rate is 34 ducats, and the barter was fair. How much was the wool worth in cash?”15

One of Leonardo’s earliest biographers, the painter and architect Giorgio Vasari, claimed that Leonardo was so astute at mathematics that “he used to baffle his master with the questions and problems that he raised.”16 Vasari never met Leonardo (he was born in 1511) and many of his stories are open to doubt. However, it seems a safe assumption that Leonardo was a curious and gifted student, a brilliant geometer and draftsman in particular. Yet he was not overly adept at arithmetic, and he never used algebra.

Neither, it appears, did Leonardo excel at writing in Italian, let alone Latin. He once described himself as an “uomo senza lettere”: a man without letters. The claim was an exaggeration, and it probably refers to his lack of ability in Latin. Nevertheless, his notebooks do reveal numerous grammatical inconsistencies, misspellings, skipped words, and a general lack of linguistic rigor. Some of his errors are curious even given the haste with which he may have been making his notes. For example, copying down a list of books in his library, he wrote “anticaglie” instead of “antiquarie.” On the same page he turned “Margharita” into “Marcherita.” Elsewhere he mangled the name of the Persian philosopher Avicenna, writing “Avinega.” Venezia he turned into “Vinegia.”17 Mitigating in his favor is the fact that the rules of spelling—like attitudes toward illegitimacy—were liberal in Leonardo’s day.
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Leonardo’s stepmother and his grandfather both died in 1464, when he was twelve years old. Either at that time or else at some unknown point in the next few years—but by 1469 at the latest—he moved to Florence to live with his father. Ser Piero had done extremely well for himself. By 1462 he had been working as Cosimo de’ Medici’s notary, and by 1469 he was the official notary to the Podestà, Florence’s chief law officer. Clients of his thriving practice included the nuns and friars of at least eleven convents and monasteries, and he was the notary of choice for members of the Jewish community in Florence. “If destiny bids you take the best man of law,” wrote a Florentine poet named Bernardo Cambini, “look no further than da Vinci, Piero.”18 He had a grace-and-favor apartment in the Palazzo del Podestà and, after 1470, a house in the Via delle Prestanze, the present-day Via de’ Gondi, a street running off the north side of the Palazzo Vecchio.

With fifty thousand people, Florence must have been an impressive sight for a young man like Leonardo arriving from Vinci. “Nothing more beautiful or more splendid than Florence can be found anywhere in the world,” the scholar Leonardo Bruni had declared in about 1402. Fifty years later, a Florentine merchant, taking stock of his hometown, believed it even more resplendent than in Bruni’s day, with beautiful new churches, hospitals, and palaces, and with prosperous citizens sauntering through the streets in “expensive and elegant clothing.” Florence at this time could boast fifty-four dealers in precious stones, seventy-four goldsmith shops, and eighty-three silk-weaving firms. There was, the merchant acknowledged, a further attraction: the astonishing proliferation of Florence’s architects, sculptors, and painters.19 Highly conspicuous by the time Leonardo arrived in Florence were frescoes, statues, and buildings by men like Giotto, Brunelleschi, Masaccio, Donatello, and Lorenzo Ghiberti.

Leonardo’s true education began not in an abacus school in rural Tuscany but in a goldsmith’s workshop in Florence when he was aged about thirteen or fourteen. He would have had little or no opportunity to indulge his artistic proclivities in the commerce-minded abacus school, but evidently his youthful sketches, made in his spare time, caught the eye of his father. Ser Piero served as the notary for the Florentine goldsmith and painter Andrea del Verrocchio, to whom, according to Vasari, he proudly showed a batch of the boy’s drawings.20 Ser Piero apprenticed Leonardo with Verrocchio, evidently unconcerned that his son would therefore become what was essentially a manual laborer. Ser Piero was a member of the powerful and prestigious Guild of Judges and Notaries in whose ranks could be found the sons of noble families and wealthy merchants. Painters, on the other hand, were part a guild that included doctors and apothecaries but also such lowly tradesmen as drapers, candle makers, hatters, glovers, grave diggers, and purveyors of cheese. Although Leonardo’s career choices were restricted due to his illegitimacy, Ser Piero was more liberal in his attitude toward the boy’s vocation than, say, Michelangelo’s snobbish father who, according to Vasari, scolded and beat his son when he first showed an interest in working with his hands.

Apprentices in artists’ workshops usually studied six or seven years under a recognized master, who offered food, lodging, and hands-on instruction in return for a fee paid by the apprentice’s father or guardian. Leonardo was fortunate in his father’s choice. Verrocchio enjoyed a splendid reputation as the “fountain from whom painters embibed whatever skills they have.”21 Then in his early thirties, he was the son of a brick maker who later made good as a customs inspector. Andrea seems to have led something of a wild youth: at seventeen he was arrested for killing a fourteen-year-old wool worker with a stone (he was ultimately acquitted). He may have apprenticed in the workshop of Donatello, but his main teacher was a goldsmith named Giuliano del Verrocchio, from whom he took his name (Verrocchio means “true eye”—an apt name for an artist). He endured some lean times after striking out on his own in his twenties, going barefoot at one point when he was unable to afford a pair of shoes.22

Verrocchio’s career kindled to life when he began working for the ruling Medici family in the mid-to-late 1460s, about the time, coincidentally, when Leonardo entered his studio. Becoming the Medici’s sculptor of choice, he designed and built the tomb for Cosimo de’ Medici, founder of the political dynasty who died in 1464. A few years later he sculpted the bronze-and-porphyry tomb of Cosimo’s sons, Piero and Giovanni. He also created for the family two remarkable bronze statues, a Putto with a Dolphin and a David. Leonardo was in Verrocchio’s workshop when these two elegant little statues were designed and cast, and in the figure of the David—a slim, athletic youth with tousled hair and an enigmatic half smile—it is tempting to see a portrait of Leonardo. If Leonardo was as beautiful as all his early biographers attest, Verrocchio could have naturally modeled the valiant young giant killer on his handsome apprentice. However, the absence of any youthful portrait of Leonardo with which to make a comparison means the identification must remain speculative.

Leonardo stayed in Verrocchio’s workshop for at least six or seven years. He spent the better part of a decade, therefore, learning the trade secrets essential to a painter and sculptor: everything from how to tint a piece of paper or make a pen from a goose quill, to the best method of applying gold leaf or casting bronze. Like the other apprentices, he assisted the master on works such as Verrocchio’s altarpiece The Baptism of Christ, done for the monks at the abbey of San Salvi in Florence. Legend has it that Leonardo painted one of the two kneeling angels in this altarpiece, turning out a figure so sublime that as Vasari recorded, Verrocchio “would never touch colours again, he was so ashamed that a boy understood their use better than he did.”23 Leonardo may well have executed the angel with the flaxen curls, and he would indeed become a painter far superior to his master, whose true talent was in sculpture rather than painting. Alas for the myth, Verrocchio did not in fact throw away his paint box in despair, since years later he was at work on an altarpiece for the cathedral in Pistoia.

Another Verrocchio painting on which Leonardo worked was Tobias and the Angel, for which he contributed the eager little dog—a creature with a wavy silver coat—as well as the fish and the golden ringlets over Tobias’s ears.24 Leonardo had a fascination with curly hair. His own hair, as one early biographer attests, was long and curly, and his beard “came to the middle of his breast, and was well-dressed and curled.”25 He evidently took pride in his appearance. Besides his well-dressed hair and curled beard, he had a taste for colorful clothing. Florence was renowned for its luxurious textiles—silks and brocades with names like rosa di zaffrone (pink sapphire) and fior di pesco (peach blossom). But most of these exotic fabrics were exported to the harems of Turkey because sumptuary laws—regulations against ostentatious dress—meant Florentines necessarily favored more sober colors. Not so Leonardo, whose wardrobe in later life, an audacious mix of purples, pinks, and crimsons, flouted the dictates of the fashion police. One list of his clothes itemized a taffeta gown, a rose-colored Catalan gown, a purple cape with a velvet hood, a coat of purple satin, another of crimson satin, a purple coat of camel hair, dark purple hose, dusty-rose hose, black hose, and two pink caps.26
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Andrea del Verrocchio’s The Baptism of Christ

Leonardo appears to have been, in all things, unregimented and independent, willing to disregard fashion, tradition, and precedent. Something else that made him unique was his enthusiasm for depicting the world of nature beyond the bounds of human activity. His first known drawing, done in the summer of 1473, when he was twenty-one, showed an elevated view of the Arno Valley outside Florence: sharp promontories of hill and rock rearing above a plain. The sketch was probably done as a study for the background to a painting, since he seems to have been entrusted with the landscape backdrop in Verrocchio’s Baptism of Christ, which features a mass of sheer cliff thrusting upward from a valley floor. The drawing is celebrated as the first landscape in Western art: the first time that someone regarded the features of the natural world, devoid of human presence, worthy of reproduction. Leonardo carefully dated his sketch: “The day of Our Lady of the Snows, 2 August 1473.” On the reverse of the paper he wrote: “Sono chontento” (I am happy). In the Tuscan hills, studying rock formations and watching birds of prey rising on thermals, Leonardo may indeed have been the happiest.27
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Leonardo’s first known drawing, of the Arno River Valley

Rocks, like ringlets, fascinated Leonardo. He spent much time tramping around the hills—the hobby mocked by the poet Guidotto Prestinari. This interest in topography was scientific as well as aesthetic. His notes record observations on the layers of soil and rock in the Arno Valley, such as the deposits of gravel near Montelupo, a conglomerate of tufa near Castelfiorentino, and layers of shells at Colle Gonzoli.28 His rambles were so famous by the time he lived in Milan that he once received a sack full of geological samples from mountain men: “There is to be seen, in the mountains of Parma and Piacenza,” he wrote, “a multitude of shells and corals full of holes, still sticking to the rocks, and when I was at work on the great horse for Milan, a large sackful of them, which were found thereabout, was brought to me into my workshop by certain peasants.”29 Such was Leonardo’s reputation, his eccentric pursuits known by the peasants as far away as Parma and Piacenza.
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Leonardo was living and presumably still working with Verrocchio in 1476, when he was in his midtwenties. Why he should have lodged with Verrocchio rather than in his father’s more ample accommodation is a mystery, since also sharing Verrocchio’s house were the goldsmith’s scapegrace younger brother, Tommaso, a cloth weaver, and his sister, Margherita, and her three daughters.30 Had Leonardo fallen out with his father, who following the death of his second wife had recently married for a third time? Ser Piero’s latest bride, Marguerita, was, at the tender age of fifteen, almost a decade younger than Leonardo. In 1476 she gave birth to a boy, Antonio: Ser Piero’s first legitimate child. She would produce five more (including a daughter who died in infancy) before dying in the late 1480s—at which point Ser Piero married for a fourth time and resumed his tally.

Italian literature of the day is full of stories of disputes between fathers and sons. These disputes were a consequence, in part, of a legal system that did not require fathers to emancipate their sons and give them legal rights until they were well into their twenties. The poet and storyteller Franco Sacchetti wrote that “a good many sons desire their father’s death in order to gain their freedom.”31 Leonardo mentioned this intergenerational battle in a surprisingly churlish letter written many years later to his stepbrother Domenico following the birth of Domenico’s first child—“an event,” wrote Leonardo, pen dripping with condescension, “which I understand has given you great pleasure.” He put something of a dampener on the celebrations with the observation that Domenico was imprudently congratulating himself “on having engendered a vigilant enemy, all of whose energy will be directed toward achieving a freedom he will acquire only on your death.”32 It is impossible to know how much Leonardo’s sentiments were formed by writers like Sacchetti—a copy of whose famous collection of stories was in Verrocchio’s workshop—and how much by his own experiences with Ser Piero.

Leonardo probably lived with Verrocchio because he enjoyed the older man’s company. Verrocchio was an intelligent and literate man with sophisticated and wide-ranging interests. Vasari claimed that he studied geometry and the sciences—subjects that appealed to Leonardo—and that he was also a musician. Leonardo, too, was a musician, playing the lyre “with rare execution” and even giving music lessons to pupils.33 He may even have learned his musical skills from Verrocchio: a lute appears on a list of possessions in the master’s workshop. This list also mentions a Bible, a globe, works by Petrarch and Ovid, and Sacchetti’s book of humorous short stories.34

All of these sorts of items would later appear in Leonardo’s own studio in Milan, and these possessions are a testament to, among other things, his sustained interest in the intellectual milieu first discovered in Verrocchio’s house and workshop. Indeed, they suggest that the older man, with his manifold pursuits, was Leonardo’s mentor in matters more than just how to grind pigments or hold a stylus. Leonardo arrived in Florence as a country boy from Vinci with only the rudiments of an education. Verrocchio probably smoothed off some of the young man’s rough edges with—perhaps—evenings of recitals on the lute or discussions of Ovid’s poetry.

But the influence no doubt also went deeper. Verrocchio must have been the one who first awakened Leonardo’s interest in things such as geometry, knots, and musical proportions—and their application to artistic design. His tomb slab for Cosimo de’ Medici is a labyrinth of geometrical symbols whose dominant image, a circle within a square, would reappear in Leonardo’s Vitruvian Man. Meanwhile the two interlocking rectovals in Verrocchio’s design for the tomb are repeated in one of Leonardo’s ground plans for a church. Verrocchio designed the slab between 1465 and 1467: around the time when Leonardo entered his workshop. It is easy to imagine the young apprentice studying the intricate design and realizing that mathematics was not merely (as he had learned in his abacus school) a tool for commercial transactions but rather a visible expression of the world’s beauty and truth.
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Leonardo also seems to have had another home in Florence. Verrocchio’s Medici connections, coupled with Leonardo’s obvious talents, opened the door on a rare opportunity. The fact that Leonardo lived with and worked for Lorenzo de’ Medici is affirmed by one of Leonardo’s earliest biographers, an anonymous Florentine known (after the Biblioteca Gaddiana, where his manuscript was once kept) as the Anonimo Gaddiano. This manuscript, written in the 1540s, claimed that as a young man Leonardo stayed with Lorenzo the Magnificent, “and with his support he worked in the gardens of his palace in San Marco in Florence.”35

Lorenzo’s sculpture garden was a kind of informal open-air museum through which he hoped to foster the talents of young artists (the adolescent Michelangelo would be admitted in 1489). Besides ancient statues and bronzes, Lorenzo and his curator, a sculptor named Bertoldo, assembled paintings and drawings by artists such as Brunelleschi, Donatello, Masaccio, and Fra Angelico. What work Leonardo did for Lorenzo in return for his salary is unclear, but he would have been able to make a close study of both ancient statuary and modern works of fame.

Equally important, the sculpture garden gave Leonardo access to Lorenzo the Magnificent, the most powerful man in Florence and a wealthy and astute patron of the arts. Lorenzo was probably at least partly responsible for one of Leonardo’s first independent commissions. Early in 1478 he was chosen by the Signoria, Florence’s ruling council, to paint an altarpiece for the chapel of San Bernardo in the Palazzo della Signoria (now the Palazzo Vecchio). Meanwhile he began several other projects. Toward the end of that year he made a note that he was starting “two Madonna pictures.”36 The patrons for these Madonnas are unknown, but for another work he had a very important client: he was hired to design a tapestry for King John II of Portugal. Again, Lorenzo or someone in his circle may have helped secure this commission, since King John had connections at the Medici court.37 Taking as his subject Adam and Eve in the Garden of Eden, Leonardo produced a design that later impressed Vasari: “For diligence and faithfulness to nature,” he wrote, “nothing could be more inspired or perfect.”38

At some point in the 1470s, Leonardo found work with the affluent Benci family, executing a portrait of a young woman, Ginevra de’ Benci. Ser Piero served as the Benci clan’s legal trustee, but Leonardo’s Medici connections no doubt also helped secure this portrait commission, since Ginevra’s father and grandfather both had been managers of the Medici bank, and Lorenzo himself composed sonnets in Ginevra’s honor.39 The man who probably commissioned the work, though, was the Venetian diplomat Bernardo Bembo, who during two embassies in Florence in the 1470s established a close relationship with Lorenzo de’ Medici and an even closer one, apparently, with Ginevra.

Another commission came Leonardo’s way in July 1481 when he was hired to paint an Adoration of the Magi for the Augustinian church of San Donato a Scopeto, outside the gates of Florence. Ser Piero no doubt played a vital role in securing the commission since he was the notary for the monks of San Donato a Scopeto. However, the contract for the altarpiece was a strange and complex one for which Leonardo may not have thanked his father. It stipulated that Leonardo should complete the altarpiece within two years, or at most in thirty months; if he failed to deliver, the monks reserved the right to terminate the contract without compensation and take possession of the work, such as it might be. His remuneration was a one-third share in a small property outside Florence originally owned by a saddle maker, the father of one of the monks. Oddly, he was also obliged to provide from his share of the property a dowry for the saddle maker’s granddaughter, a seamstress named Lisabetta.40
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Leonardo’s The Adoration of the Magi

Success in Florence, then, seemed to beckon. On the verge of his thirties, Leonardo looked to be establishing himself as a successful workshop master in the stamp of Verrocchio, securing numerous commissions—and very prestigious ones at that—through both his talent and his connections with powerful friends. He probably hired apprentices of his own at this point.

But his work did not proceed auspiciously. Most of these commissions met with unhappy fates. The seamstress Lisabetta did not get her dowry, or at least not from Leonardo. Nor did the monks receive their Adoration of the Magi. Despite further incentives (the monks sent him a bushel of wheat and then a cask of red wine) he failed to complete the work, which remained in a state of frantic and mesmerizing incompletion. Leonardo did, however, finish for the monks another, lesser task. They engaged him to paint one of their sundials, for which he received in return a load of firewood.

Other of Leonardo’s works also went unfinished or undelivered. For some reason, the tapestry design for the king of Portugal was never sent to Flanders, where it was to have been woven in gold and silk. Nor did Leonardo bring to completion his altarpiece for the chapel in the Palazzo Vecchio. His failure to deliver this latter work to the Signoria, the men who employed his father, may have involved Ser Piero in some awkwardness and embarrassment, as did, no doubt, his inability to furnish the dowry and complete the Adoration for the monks of San Donato. His tardiness and delinquency—caused by a combination of distractions, experimentation, a quest for perfection, and a general intellectual restlessness—appear to have been well developed at this early stage of his career. A Florentine poet named Ugolino Verino, surveying Leonardo’s career from the vantage point of the mid-1480s, tut-tutted that he “barely managed to complete a painting in ten years.”41
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However bad it may have looked to his disappointed patrons, Leonardo’s failure to complete his work was not the result of incompetence or a lack of resources. Rather, he was frustrated by the extremely high standard he set for himself in his quest for a new visual language. He looked much more closely at the world than his contemporaries, wishing to integrate its features more naturalistically into his art.

A good example of how Leonardo worked can be seen in the painting of a Virgin and Child with a cat that he planned in about 1480. The painting itself was never done, or else has long since been lost, but his scattered sketches show that he repeatedly—and almost obsessively—rehearsed the pose of a toddler holding a cat. Verrocchio used terra-cotta statuettes as models for the Christ Child in his paintings. Leonardo, however, was determined to capture life more accurately and realistically. Since his drawings of the child with the cat date from the late 1470s or early 1480s, it is tempting to see in these vignettes one of Leonardo’s infant half brothers, Antonio (born in 1476) or Giuliano (born in 1479), wrestling with the family cat. Antonio and Giuliano were almost certainly the models for two Madonna and Child paintings that he did finish, Madonna of the Carnation, done between about 1476 and 1478, and the Benois Madonna, painted a year or two later. In each case Leonardo depicts a Christ Child whose unfocused eyes and clumsy grasp were surely based on his actual observation of babies.42

Leonardo believed the painter required a vast store of resources, especially deep powers of observation, since he was to reproduce in his works “all that the eye can see”43—such things as the effect of the wind on trees, or shadows on clouds, or how objects looked underwater. The sight of sun and shadow playing across people and objects obsessed him. He planned to write a treatise on light and shade that would account scientifically for subtle atmospheric effects such as mist and reflected light. The motions of the human body also absorbed him. A sixteenth-century biographer reported that in order to be able to paint joints and muscles realistically Leonardo dissected corpses, “indifferent to this inhuman and nauseating work.”44 No artist had ever peered so deeply into the physical features of men and their world, or struggled so intensively to capture them in paint.

Leonardo was relentlessly inquisitive, seeking answers to a wide variety of phenomena. His notebooks are filled with reminders to ask questions of friends and acquaintances: how a tower in Ferrara was constructed, how the people in Flanders “go on the ice” in winter, how the capon hatches the eggs of the hen.45 He also made his own firsthand investigations, occasionally ones requiring vigor and courage. From the Po Valley near Milan the giant hulk of the 15,203-foot Monte Rosa can be seen rising in the distance, and at some point Leonardo climbed toward one of the summits of this great massif, thereby becoming one of history’s first mountaineers.46 Ascending the jagged slopes to understand, among other things, why the sky was blue, he marveled at how the world looked different at high altitude, with the thin atmosphere making the sun look brighter and the sky darker.47

Leonardo was not content, therefore, to work according to the tried-and-trusted styles of the day, looking at the world with the same eyes as everyone else and churning out altarpieces little different from what painters had been doing for the previous fifty years. Instead, he continually experimented, setting himself almost impossible tasks. He wanted to create entirely unique and different visual forms: ones inspired not by earlier paintings but by the world around him. Many of his contemporaries were highly competent technicians who could create elegant and pleasing works of art to satisfy their patrons. But they did not climb up mountains or study the muscles of corpses. Leonardo had a deeper and more exhilarating vision of the world, and a more ambitious and exacting conception of how art might capture and interpret it.
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In about 1482—the precise date, and even the exact year, is uncertain—Leonardo left Florence, armed with his silver horse-head lyre and his letter of credentials. The unfinished commissions smoldered behind him, but in Milan, despite the fresh start, he did little to mend his ways.

Leonardo’s long letter of credentials to Lodovico Sforza reveals a certain amount of reinvention. He failed to mention that he was Verrocchio’s pupil, nor did he describe any of his paintings (completed or otherwise) or the fact that he had done work for such important patrons as the king of Portugal, Bernardo Bembo, the Florentine Signoria, and Lorenzo de’ Medici. He clearly hoped for a career change in Milan: he wanted to work as an architect and military engineer rather than as a painter. He therefore boasted of his abilities to execute projects (bridges across rivers, tunnels under moats) for which, in reality, he had at best limited experience and, at worst, none whatsoever.

No evidence indicates that Leonardo actively participated in any of these sorts of engineering schemes in Florence. One early source claimed that his expertise in hydraulic engineering was what originally brought him to Milan. Impressed by certain dams constructed by Leonardo along the Renello River, Lodovico supposedly hired him to combine two canals and look after the city’s sewers and floodgates.48 This early experience cannot be verified—and the identity of the “Renello River” is impossible to ascertain—but Leonardo would hardly have made audacious claims for engineering skills if he had no competence or ability. In fact, the design for one of his war machines may have predated his departure for Milan: a wheeled gun carriage that allowed a cannon to adjust its aim through both a vertical calibration and a horizontal pivot. Furthermore, his notebooks reveal that while still living in Florence he drew designs for (but probably did not actually construct) a crossbow, waterwheels, and numerous gears, cranks, and screws, all of which could have had a wide application. These designs testify to his striking ability to visualize solutions to complex technical problems; all that was wanting was the opportunity to implement them.49

Leonardo once wrote that “mechanical science” was the “noblest and the most useful” of all the disciplines.50 His fascination with mechanics and the kind of breathtaking engineering projects to which he aspired possibly dated from—or at least was spurred by—one particular experience in Verrocchio’s workshop. In May 1471, when Leonardo was nineteen, Verrocchio and his team hoisted a two-ton copper ball some three hundred feet into the air to the top of the lantern crowning the dome of the cathedral in Florence. This marvelous feat of engineering clearly enthralled Leonardo, who made drawings of the gears in the Brunelleschian hoists used to perform the task. Painting altarpieces for local politicians or obscure bands of monks must have paled in comparison to such a spectacular undertaking.

Leonardo evidently believed that Milan, with its much larger population, held more opportunities for engineering than Florence. Yet work in these fields was not swiftly forthcoming. His first known project in Milan, arranged in the spring of 1483 by the Confraternity of the Immaculate Conception, was yet another painting: an altarpiece for a chapel in the church of San Francesco Grande. The commission was at least a prestigious one. Located in one of Milan’s oldest and wealthiest neighborhoods, San Francesco Grande housed more relics than any other Milanese church. Among its treasures was the head of St. Matthew and a piece of wood from the room in which Christ ate the Last Supper.51

The confraternity, founded in 1475, was a religious group composed of wealthy laymen who worshipped together and advocated the doctrine of the Immaculate Conception. Having recently acquired their chapel and seen its ceiling frescoed, they now wanted an altarpiece. For the previous three years a woodworker had been busily constructing the enormous frame into which would be set painted decorations as well as carved statuettes and reliefs.

Leonardo was hired to execute the altarpiece alongside a pair of brothers, Evangelista and Ambrogio de Predis, the latter of whom was Lodovico Sforza’s court painter. The most important part of the commission was to be a central panel depicting (as the contract particularized) the Madonna in an ultramarine blue mantle flanked by two prophets, with the Christ Child seated on a golden platform and God the Father, also in ultramarine blue, hovering overhead. The fact that Leonardo was deemed the major partner in this enterprise is indicated by the stipulation that this centerpiece was to be “painted by the Florentine.”52

Although Leonardo did not find his desired employment building doomsday weapons, within a year of his arrival in Milan he had nonetheless secured a highly prestigious commission. Then two years later, Lodovico, on behalf of Matthias Corvinus, the king of Hungary, engaged Leonardo to paint a Madonna.53 Sadly, he stayed true to his habit of leaving contracts unfulfilled and patrons disgruntled. Nothing is known of the Madonna painted for Corvinus, while the commission for the confraternity’s altar-piece became a sorry saga of delays, recriminations, and legal proceedings. Leonardo and the two brothers were contracted to finish the altarpiece on time for the Feast of the Immaculate Conception in December 1483—a deadline giving them a little more than seven months. Something of Leonardo’s reputation for belatedness must have been known to the confraternity because they inserted into the contract a special clause stating that if he left town without completing his share of the work he would receive no further payment.

Perhaps not surprisingly, Leonardo and his partners failed to deliver. The exact date that Leonardo completed his panel—the work now known as The Virgin of the Rocks—is not known, but as much as a decade later it had still not been handed over. By the early 1490s the two parties were in dispute, with Leonardo and Ambrogio (Evangelista had since died) appealing to an authority, probably Lodovico Sforza, to complain that their payment of eight hundred lire had been exhausted on the materials. The contract had made allowances for a bonus to be paid once the job was finished, but the assessors, a Franciscan friar and two members of the confraternity, offered only an extra hundred lire: the painters wanted a bonus of four hundred lire. In their appeal, Leonardo and Ambrogio mentioned a third party (whose identity has never been known) willing to purchase the altarpiece from them at a more advantageous price. There was a certain highhandedness and even arrogance to their complaint, which stated that the members of the confraternity were unfit to pronounce on the painting “because the blind cannot judge colours.”54

The wealthy and powerful men in the confraternity must have been taken aback by such a haughty attitude in mere painters. Patrons generally regarded painting as something too important to be left to the artists. Painters were craftsmen working in strict accordance to the wishes of their employers, who were always their social betters. A few years earlier, Leonardo’s contemporary Domenico Ghirlandaio, a reliable and established painter with an excellent reputation, was hired by Fra Bernardo di Francesco, prior of the Foundling Hospital in Florence, to paint an altarpiece of the Adoration of the Magi. The contract repeatedly stressed that Fra Bernardo, not Ghirlandaio, was to be judge and jury in the matter of appraising the content and quality of the work. Every particular was to be done “according to what I, Fra Bernardo, think best,” and the painter would receive his payment only “if it seems to me, the abovesaid Fra Bernardo, that it is worth it.” Fra Bernardo reserved the right to get a second opinion on the finished article, and if the assessment was unfavorable, Ghirlandaio would receive “as much less as I, Fra Bernardo, think right.”55

Ghirlandaio was happy to fulfill his patrons’ various demands. Not so Leonardo, who evidently did not enjoy working to order. His frustration with the members of the confraternity is understandable, but their reticence about a bonus for The Virgin of the Rocks came about partly, no doubt, because Leonardo had failed to stick to the description provided in his contract. The Christ Child does not appear on a golden platform nor does God the Father hover overhead. The members of the confraternity did not simply want a pretty picture to hang in their chapel: they wanted a work of art that would illustrate and reinforce their belief in the doctrine of the Immaculate Conception of the Virgin: that is, that the Virgin Mary, unlike everyone else, was born free from the stain of original sin (and that she was conceived asexually by means of a chaste kiss between her parents). This doctrine was new and highly controversial, with the Franciscans in support and the Dominicans violently objecting. The Feast of the Immaculate Conception was recognized only as recently as 1476 in a papal bull issued by Sixtus IV, a Franciscan. The members of the confraternity, whose sole purpose as a group was to support and defend this doctrine, had no wish to see a painter improvising with his design in a way that ignored or meddled with their theological beliefs.

The members of the confraternity were probably also shocked at the sight of something so daring and new. Leonardo had failed to finish the Adoration of the Magi, a composition that if brought to completion would have been unlike anything seen in Italy. The startling promise of this work, with its attention to bodily movement and natural detail, was fulfilled in his mesmerizing The Virgin of the Rocks. Leonardo swept away the stock gestures and expressions used by artists to convey their meanings, giving his figures life and movement through a delicate ballet of motioning hands—the foreshortened left hand of the Virgin, the pointing forefinger of the angel—and skillfully calibrated postures.

Leonardo also created a truly fantastical setting for his figures. The contract mentioned mountains and rocks in the background, but he conjured an eerie, primeval landscape in which the distant, vertiginous drops of his 1473 Arno Valley sketch reappear, this time in closeup, in the hefty arches and priapic columns of rock forming the grotto where the scene takes place. It is a landscape whose eerie beauty was inspired by Leonardo’s close scrutiny of topographical features. A professional geologist studying the painting in 1996 celebrated the work as a “geological tour de force because of the subtlety with which Leonardo represents a complicated geographical formation.”56 In the foreground he painted, with the same naturalistic detail, plants such as columbine and St. John’s wort.57 The scene was given an overall unity through a subtle modulation of light and shadow, with the figures seen in a diffused, dusky light, as if through a smoky filter.

It was a virtuoso performance. Leonardo had finally created a magnificent work of art, a large altarpiece that should have been prominently displayed in one of Milan’s most important churches. And yet, because of the dispute with the confraternity, it remained in his studio, unappreciated and largely unseen. Twenty-five years would pass before an altarpiece—albeit with a different central panel, painted much later by Leonardo—was finally delivered to San Francesco Grande. What happened to the first version, and whether another buyer purchased it from the painters in the 1490s, has never been known for certain. For all intents and purposes, this painting—unquestionably the greatest altarpiece of the fifteenth century—vanished from the view of history until 1625, when it surfaced in the collection of the kings of France.58

Such disputes left Leonardo at times exasperated and embittered. He did not regard humanity with the same repugnance as his contemporary Niccolò Machiavelli, who wrote in The Prince that the majority of men were “ungrateful, fickle, liars and deceivers.”59 But his notebooks register peevish complaints in which he projected an image of himself as someone who has been wronged, betrayed, or unjustly treated. “All the ills that are or ever were,” reads one of these passages, “if they could be set to work by him, would not satisfy the desires of his iniquitous soul.” Or again: “I know one who, having promised me much, less than my due, being disappointed of his presumptuous desires, has tried to deprive me of all my friends.” Sometimes he made clear his suspicion not of individuals but of people in general, at one point launching a tirade against people who are “nothing else than a passage for food and augmentors of excrement.” They pass through life leaving nothing behind, he sneered, but full latrines.60

Early in his career, Leonardo was short of neither friends nor benefactors, having worked for two of the most illustrious princes in Italy, Lorenzo de’ Medici and Lodovico Sforza. But his unwillingness to compromise his art for the sake of a contract was giving him a reputation as a difficult and unreliable artist that may have threatened future commissions. More to the point, he had yet to create his work of fame. As the French guns rolled through Italy and his bronze floated down the river to Ferrara, the debt that his genius owed the world still remained to be paid.
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